
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Monday, 30 November 2020 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on 
how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Planning Performance (Pages 11 - 34)

6. Response to Raising Unemployment (Pages 35 - 44)

7. Q2 2020-21 Performance Report (Pages 45 - 56)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
 

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in private

None. 

Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Brian Francis
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Alan Ridgers

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 

Monday, 28 September 2020                                7.30pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Ejaz Aslam 
Harold Craske 
Brian Francis 
Baljit Hayre 
Les Hoskins 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
Alan Ridgers 

Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning) 
Simon Hookway
Keith Grimley 

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Senior Economic Development Officer

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

37. Apologies 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Leslie Hills. Cllr Ejaz Aslam substituted. 

38. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting Tuesday, 22 June were signed by the Chair. 

39. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest. 

40. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21 

Members of the Strategic Environment Committee were presented with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate 
Plan, for Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020).

The Assistant Director (Planning) introduced the report and informed Members that the 
entirety of quarter one was conducted while under lockdown 

The Assistant Director (Communities) presented Members with a number of slides that 
outlined key information regarding the Economic Development Departments performance 
over quarter one; those slides could be found through the link below: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13187/Supplementary%20-
%20Economic%20Development%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-
2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9

Page 3 Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13187/Supplementary%20-%20Economic%20Development%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13187/Supplementary%20-%20Economic%20Development%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13187/Supplementary%20-%20Economic%20Development%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

2

Following the presentation, the Assistant Director (Communities) fielded questions from the 
Committee and explained that: 

 The team were currently awaiting further information on the Kickstart Scheme to be 
released from the Government; the Council were unaware why it had been decided 
that groups of thirty young people were the focus. The scheme was viewed as an 
opportunity to engage with local businesses in meeting the employment needs of 
young people locally. 

 It I understood that payments will be not be made through the Council as an 
intermediary, they will be paid directly to the businesses and more clarity is required 
in respect of the role of an intermediary. There was a slight increase in town centre 
shop vacancies before Covid-19 which came about as a result of some of the shops 
in Town having to close due to the redevelopment/refurbishment of areas/properties. 
An example of that was a unit that was closed down and split into two as well a 
number of kiosks in the St George’s Centre which were closed during the 
refurbishment works. However, it is likely that the full impact of Covid-19 on 
vacancies was yet to be seen 

 With regards to footfall, the town centre had already been facing an ongoing decline 
in the average footfall due to the rise of online shopping and the change in available 
retail shops within the Town. However, Gravesend was in a good positon going 
forward due to the new developments moving forward such as the Reef 
development, Heritage Quarter and London Resort; Gravesend also had good 
transportation routes to London via the high speed line 

 With regards to the increased Youth Unemployment figure, the DWP had been 
encouraged to put in place local partnership work, alongside the large number of 
training providers out there; the youth unemployment rate had increased and actions 
in response will be reported back to Committee. The Senior Economic Development 
Officer had been in contact with North Kent College and held discussions around 
what they could make available locally. Discussions were also held with NWK for a 
joint approach to Comms such as a website portal which held information on 
available jobs/work experience in Gravesham and through social media to ensure 
that as many young people as possible were aware of the opportunities available to 
them 

 Prior to Covid-19, the team held a firm understanding of the vacant units and the 
positon they were in; the owners or agents were contacted to find out if the unit had 
been placed on the market and was easily accessible to interested buyers/lettings. 
The last few months the team had been focused on business support grants for 
those affected by Covid-19 but the focus had shifted back to the teams normal 
responsibilities and empty units were being followed up 

 The team had considered looking at change of uses for some units; one idea was to 
create Covid-19 secure business units where workers could hire a desk to work from 
if they were unable to work in their usual workplace or at home 

 There would most likely be some benefits with regards to Business Rates next year 
and two thirds of  businesses in the Town Centre had already benefited from the 
Small Business Rate Relief Scheme before the outbreak of Covid-19  

 As part of a new package of support aimed at training and reskilling jobseekers, the 
DWP had doubled the amount of work coaches available to young people   

 There were incentives for businesses to move into units within the Enterprise Zone; 
currently there were not many units in that location but the team were working on 
bringing further units there in the future. Any incentive could be useful , but could be 
targeted to attract the businesses that Gravesham wanted within the new 
developments in the Town 

Page 4



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

3

There had been reported cases where an incentive was given to a business for a certain 
number of years and then upon expiry of the incentive they left the Town. However, local 
experience suggests that has not been the case here. The Assistant Director (Planning) 
presented Members with a number of slides that outlined key information regarding the 
Planning Departments performance over quarter one; those slides could be found through 
the link below: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13188/Supplementary%20-
%20Planning%20Performance%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-
2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9

Following the presentation, the Assistant Director (Planning) fielded questions from the 
Committee and explained that: 

 There were a range of mechanisms in place for when a member of the public wanted 
to contact the Planning Service; previously when a person sought pre-application 
advice they needed to phone into the office and make the payment in person/over 
the phone. With help from the Corporate Change Team and IT Services, the whole 
process has been shifted online; Planning Officers uploaded the information and pre-
application advice to an online document management system which allowed the 
customer to access the information from home. The Planning Team had been 
working towards a paperless office whilst still maintaining an effective service  to 
meet all of the customers’ needs 

 The service has had a longstanding aspiration for an agent’s forum.  The team had 
been investigating what other local authorities do. Rather than make assumptions, it 
was decided that the agents would be contacted to see what they most wanted out of 
the forum which, at least initially, would be virtual. A piece of work was ongoing to 
pull together a list of the key agents and create a list of questions for them to answer 
regarding what they wanted to be able to do through the portal e.g. virtual 
meetings/submitting questions/time scales etc 

The Chair thanked Members for their in depth questions and thanked the Assistant Director 
(Communities) and the Assistant Director (Planning) for maintaining a high level of 
performance during a turbulent quarter. 

41. Update report on economic development strategy themes 

The Committee were presented with a report that summarised the steps that were being 
taken to draw from and link into economic recovery work at a county and regional level, 
together with an update on progress with the Economic Growth Strategy. 

The Senior Economic Development Officer guided Members through the report and 
highlighted key points from the following sections: 

 Economic Snapshot 
 Local Authority Response 
 South East Local Enterprise Partnership and Thames Estuary Growth Board 
 Business Grant Scheme Closure 
 Economic Growth Strategy Progress 
 Business Communication 
 Kent and Medway Growth Hub ‘Recovery Helpline’

Page 5

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13188/Supplementary%20-%20Planning%20Performance%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13188/Supplementary%20-%20Planning%20Performance%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13188/Supplementary%20-%20Planning%20Performance%20Slides%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Environment%20Cabine.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

4

 
The Chair thanked the officer for his presentation and raised a question about the recent 
response to the consultation for London Resort regarding the skills employability and jobs for 
local people theme. 

The Assistant Director (Planning) advised that the Council recognised the value that would 
come from the development of London Resort due to the amount of jobs it would create and 
the sustainability that came with those jobs. There were also ongoing discussions about 
local labour agreements, maintaining positive relationships with existing local businesses, 
adding a Gravesham heritage feel to the Resort and kick-starting careers for people learning 
new trades/skills. 

The Senior Economic Development Officer fielded several questions from Members and 
explained that: 

 The broadband scheme to extend superfast broadband to 1200 homes and 
businesses was a successful bid from KCC that aimed to cover all of Kent’s rural 
areas that suffered with poor broadband or had no connectivity at all. The economic 
development team had received some of the postcodes of the areas that would 
benefit from the broadband installation and Members were welcomed to inquire 
about the areas that would receive the boost 

 The programmes of funding available were different to the funding that was available 
prior to the pandemic; HM Treasury had been active in providing business support 
grants over the last few months. However business recovery seems to be at the 
forefront of central government funding decisions now and it was considered likely 
that new funding is likely to be available to local schemes to bid for.. The team’s 
approach was to make the Council’s priorities known to key partners so that when 
schemes are released, the Council would be in the best position possible and be 
ready to put in successful bids. 

 One of the team’s roles was to understand what skills were required for people to 
gain employment and how to work alongside local colleges as part of local efforts to 
create a suitably skilled talent pool to satisfy the demands of local people and 
employers. Apprenticeships are an increasingly popular form of education which 
allow skills to develop to form a career and their increased availability locally, is likely 
to improve employment opportunities and the availability of a skilled workforce within 
Gravesham. 

 A common discussion being held was getting into schools from an earlier age and 
discussing future skills development and employment. Schools’ careers services are 
now partly delivered through the Enterprise Advisor Network which is comprised of 
volunteers from a range of career backgrounds. These individuals help schools to 
develop their career programmes and talk to the students about their experiences. 
Recently the Senior Economic Development Officer met with Cllr Sullivan to discuss 
the Lower Thames Crossing and how they might engage with the local schools 
during the course of the development but that plan was still in its very early stage of 
development. 

 A representative of Gravesham Council did not sit on the Thames Estuary Growth 
Board and the Chair Kate Willard had yet to visit Gravesham however the Council 
still had influence on the Board and were able to put forward Spring proposals. Kate 
Willard follows the Council on social media and her press secretary is aware of 
Gravesham’s priorities. 

 The Council were of the view that there was talent everywhere in Gravesham, not 
just within the Grammar Schools 

Page 6



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

5

 A virtual Gravesham Business Network was being planned for later in the autumn 
and was envisaged to include consultation on the Council’s Economic Growth 
Strategy. The main reason for the membership increase of one hundred members 
was due to the increased opportunities to engage with businesses through the 
sending out of the grant applications and invites to join the network. It was a great 
opportunity for local businesses to comment on Gravesham’s economy and become 
more involved 

With regards to a Members question about the feasibility of getting schemes into schools for 
young people, the Committee were informed by Cllr Sullivan that KCC had recommissioned 
the Connections service which previously worked with young people in Gravesham. 

Concern was raised by a Member over 6.7 of the report, which covered the rural economy, 
as almost four fifths of Gravesham was classified as rural and yet only a very small section 
of the report with minor updates was dedicated to the rural economy. In future reports, the 
Senior Economic Development Officer was asked to provide a more detailed update. 

With regards to the Rural Economy information in this report, further information was 
requested regarding:

 The proposals for a small number of rural employment sites
 If rural jobs were increasing in the rural area or urbans jobs had moved to the rural 

area
 The broadband scheme

- how many houses were waiting for the superfast broadband 
- how the scheme would be advertised to rural residents 
- What sort of connectivity would they be receiving and how fast was the 

broadband  

The Senior Economic Development Officer agreed that section 6.7 was relatively short but 
advised that even though only a few points had been highlighted in the report specifically 
regarding the rural economy, with the exception of the Town Centre items, most of the other 
items related to the Borough as whole. 

At the Chairs request, the Senior Economic Development Officer agreed to come back to the 
Committee with further information regarding the Broadband Scheme. 

The Chair summed up the points made by Members and thanked the Senior Economic 
Development Officer for an information update. 

42. Presentation on use classes order change 

The Committee received a presentation from the Assistant Director (Planning) on the use 
classes order changes. 

The presentation was published and could be found through the following link: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13189/Supplementary%20-
%20Presentation%20on%20Use%20Classes%20Order%20Changes%20Monday%2028-
Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Envi.pdf?T=9

Page 7

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13189/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Use%20Classes%20Order%20Changes%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Envi.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13189/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Use%20Classes%20Order%20Changes%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Envi.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13189/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Use%20Classes%20Order%20Changes%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Strategic%20Envi.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

6

The Chair thanked the officer for her comprehensive presentation and Members asked that it 
be emailed to all Members after the meeting. 

The Assistant Director (Planning) advised that its format had been written so that it could be 
shared with members of the Planning Committee but she was happy for it to be circulated to 
all Members. 

Following a question on if the changes made it easier for a shop to change its use, the 
Assistant Director (Planning) explained that the proposals were designed to make it easier 
for shops to change their uses as it was recognised that Town Centres needed to have more 
flexibility. However if a shop needed to carry out external works to the building, planning 
permission could be required. 

The Chair observed that many retailed shops had changed to residential development over 
the years. 

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Planning) for an information presentation. 

43. Presentation on current Government planning consultations 

The Assistant Director (Planning) presented the Committee with a presentation on the 
current Government planning consultations. 

The presentation was published and could be found through the following link: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13190/Supplementary%20-
%20Presentation%20on%20Current%20Government%20Planning%20Consultations%20Mo
nday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30.pdf?T=9

The Chair queried the Assistant Director (Planning) on whether she thought the role of local 
Councillors and Councils would increase or decrease (with far greater control by central 
Government) in terms of deciding what went into the Local Plan. 

The Assistant Director (Planning) explained that the Government were concerned about 
certain areas where they felt that some Councillors may not have recognised the need to 
develop and were more inclined to listen to the groups that were anti-development thus 
making decisions that were not in line with Government thinking. The Local Plan was most 
effective when Councillors considered the needs of their wards, held discussions with their 
constituents and could indicate land that could be suitable for development. The Assistant 
Director (Planning) explained that at previous meetings with Parish Council Chairs that the 
Leader had asked them to think of developments that their Parishes needed so that officers 
could try to accommodate that as the Local Plan was developed. 

The Assistant Director (Planning) further explained other changes proposed to the Local 
Plan and reminded Members that it was not just about residential development but also 
about jobs, infrastructure and how people moved around the area. There was a concern that 
there would be a blanket approach which wouldn’t be suitable as many areas were different; 
each Local Plan needed to meet the needs of the local community. 

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Planning) for an information presentation and 
thanked Members for their contributions to the meeting as well as their challenging questions 
to officers. 

Page 8

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13190/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Current%20Government%20Planning%20Consultations%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13190/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Current%20Government%20Planning%20Consultations%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13190/Supplementary%20-%20Presentation%20on%20Current%20Government%20Planning%20Consultations%20Monday%2028-Sep-2020%2019.30.pdf?T=9


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 28.09.2020

7

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:16pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee

Date: 30 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Planning and Development)

Subject: Planning performance

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report is the third of a regular series intended to be presented every six months to inform 
Members on current performance in respect of the planning service

Recommendations:
This report is submitted for information to assist the committee in monitoring planning activity 
and Members are requested to:

a) Discuss and comment upon the information provided; and
b) Identify any other areas of performance they wish to see included in future reports.

1. Introduction

1.1 Previous reports have included an initial section providing the background to 
performance monitoring within the planning service, given that they were only 
introduced at this time last year.  That information still provides a useful reference 
point for Members, but is now included at Appendix 2.

1.2 It should also be noted that, since the last update for the period to 31 March 2020, 
there have been a number of legislative changes, some to address Covid-19 
issues, that have changed some of our work, and these are summarised at 
Appendix 3.  The government has also provided some updated guidance to cover 
the more recent changes, and links are provided at the end of Appendix 3.

1.3 Two important consultations have also been taking place in respect of Changes to 
the current Planning System (closed on 1 October 2020), which can be found 
here, and Planning for the Future (closed on 29 October 2020), which can be 
found here.  Both consultations were the subject of discussion at the 28 
September 2020 meeting of this committee.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/927157/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf


2. Performance

2.1 Development Management

During the period 1 April to 30 September 2020 the authority received and 
validated 602 planning applications.  By way of comparison, the table below 
provides figures for the three preceding six-month periods.  This shows a 
decrease in applications received of 91 applications / 13% between the latest six-
month period and the equivalent period in 2018/19, being just below the 2-year 
average of 628.  Unfortunately there is no directly comparable national data 
available, the most recent relating to the period 1 January to 30 June 2020, which 
shows a decline of 15% for the same period in the previous year.

1 October 
2018 – 31 

March 2019

1 April 2019 – 
30 September 

2019

1 October 
2019 to 31 

March 2020

1 April 2020 
to 30 

September 
2020

Applications 
received and 
validated

580 693 638 602

2.2 The graph below shows the number of all applications received and validated 
within each of the six-month periods by type – non-major, used for government 
returns, being a combination of ‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications.

Oct 18 - Mar 19 Apr 19 - Sep 19 Oct 19 - Mar 20 Apr 20 - Sep 20
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

All
Major
Minor
Other

Figure 1:  Applications received and validated, by type, during the period

2.3 Performance relating to the determination of applications required for PS2 returns 
(see 1.1 in Appendix 2) is monitored against the target determination times by 
type or, if appropriate, against an agreed Extension of Time (EOT) period, 
performance against these measures being shown in the graph below. 

Page 12



3

Oct 18 - Mar 19 Apr 19 - Sep 19 Oct 19 - Mar 20 Apr 20 - Sep 20
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Major
Minor
Other
Non-major

Figure 2:  Applications determined in time or within agreed Extension of Time period (%)

2.4 As set out in Appendix 2, the government monitors ‘speed’ of decision relating to 
those applications used in the governments PS2 Returns, i.e. excluding those 
applications relating to approval / removal of conditions, consultations by 
neighbouring authorities, non-material and minor-material amendment 
applications, request for a scoping opinion under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, confirmation that 
conditions have been complied with, prior approval applications, etc.

The monitoring period for 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2020 dealt with 
cumulative outturns and the information, split between major and non-major 
applications, can be seen below.  National data suggests that this council is 
comparable with the average for major applications, but below average for the 
non-majors, although ongoing improvements are showing the gap is closing.

Q3 2018-19

Q4 2018-19

Q1 2019-20

Q2 2019-20

Q3 2019-20

Q4 2019-20

Q1 2020-21

Q2 2020-21
0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

Major
Non-major
Major Target
Non-major Target

Figure 3:  ‘Speed of delivery’ 2-year cumulative outturn (Oct 2018 to Sept 2020) (%)

2.5 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission are determined in 
accordance with the development plan and also reflect relevant international 
obligations and statutory requirements.  There is, within the National Planning 

Page 13



4

Policy Framework (NPPF 2019), a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ with Para 11 stating:
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 

plan without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 

are most important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting 
permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 

of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

However, approximately 78% of the borough’s area is subject to Green Belt 
designation, with large areas also falling within the Kent Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and other areas of protection.  Green Belt 
policy is particularly relevant in that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances” (NPPF 2019, Para 143).  The NPPF goes on, in Para 144, to state 
that:

“When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.  ‘Very 
special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations”.  Thus, whilst officers endeavour to 
work with applicants to ensure that applications are policy compliant and therefore 
can be transparently approved, and performance in this regard is monitored, this 
presumption against inappropriate development affecting over three-quarters of 
our area, clearly has an impact, the proportion of all applications received that are 
within the area affected by Green Belt policy being, on average, 21.4% during the 
last two years.

It should also be noted that the amount of work required when considering even 
relatively simple householder development applications within these protected 
areas is greater than for other areas, thereby also impacting on the speed at 
which decisions can be made.

Page 14



5

Oct 18 - Mar 
19

Apr 19 - Sep 
19

Oct 19 - Mar 
20

Apr 20 - Sep 
20

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

All
Permitted
Refused
Withdraw / appealed

Figure 4:  Applications determined, withdrawn or appealed against non-determination

Oct 18 - Mar 19 Apr 19 - Sep 19 Oct 19 - Mar 20 Apr 20 - Sep 20
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Permitted
Refused

Figure 5:  Applications determined - % permitted and refused

2.6 In addition to processing and determining formal applications submitted to the 
Council, we also offer a pre-application advice service designed to assist potential 
applicants to prepare all the necessary documentation and address all material 
considerations in advance of formal submission.  Whilst this is not a statutory 
service, it is considered to be best practice and can result in the submission of 
applications that are complete upon submission and in a form ready to move 
through to determination.  This is a paid for service, with a fee structure designed 
to cover its costs.

The table below shows details of the number of submissions received during each 
period, the number responded to and those on hand at the end of that period.

Page 15



6

Oct 18 - Mar 
19

Apr 19 - Sep 
19

Oct 19 - Mar 
20

Apr 20 - Sep 
20

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Received
Responded to
On hand at end of period

Figure 6:  Pre-application submissions

2.7 The ‘quality of decision’ is reviewed by Government and the threshold for 
designation on applications for both major and non-major development is 10% of 
an authority’s total number of decisions being allowed on appeal.  For the latest 
two years for which national data is available (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2019), 
government statistics show the number of decisions overturned at appeal 
nationally for major applications was 2.1%.  For this Council during the period in 
question it was 0%, as no major appeals were allowed out of a total of 28.

2.8 As regards decisions relating to non-major applications within that same 
monitoring period, government statistics show the number of decisions overturned 
at appeal for non-major applications is 1.1%.  For this Council it was 1.8%.

2.9 The recent monitoring period for 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 dealt with 
cumulative outturns and the information, split between major and non-major 
applications, can be seen below.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

Major %
Non-major %
Threshold %

Figure 7:  ‘Quality of decision’ 2-year cumulative outturn (April 2018 to March 2020) (%)

2.10 The current monitoring period for 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021 is now three-
quarters complete, with current cumulative outturns, split between major and non-
major applications, set out below.

Page 16

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/902994/Table_P152_decisions_Apr_2017_to_Mar_2019.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/902996/Table_P154_decisions_Apr_2017_to_Mar_2019.xlsx


7

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

Major % Non-major % Threshold %

Figure 8:  ‘Quality of decision’ 2-year cumulative outturn to date (April 2019 to September 
2020) (%)

The spike in the first quarter of 2019 related to a single appeal being allowed 
against just four being determined in that period but, as can be seen, performance 
is still very good with just one major and 7 non-major being allowed in the 
eighteen-month period.

2.11 The appeals lodged against the Council predominantly relate to situations where 
planning permission for development has been refused (100% during the six 
month period), although they can be lodged against the Council’s failure to 
determine applications within the target period, the service of enforcement 
notices, refusal to permit advertisement consent or refusal to issue a Lawful 
Development Certificate, etc..  The total number of appeals lodged, by type, is set 
out in the graph below:

Total
 ap

peals

Refusal
 of p

lan
ning 

perm
iss

ion
Enforce

ment

Non-determ
inati

on
Other

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Oct 18 - Mar 19
Apr 19 - Sep 19
Oct 19 - Mar 20
Apr 20 - Sep 20

Figure 9:  Appeals lodged in the period by type

2.12 In addition to monitoring in accordance with the formula required for the 
government’s thresholds, appeal decisions are monitored and lessons learned, 
both from those successfully defended and those allowed.  This aspect of the 
department’s work was the subject of a Member training session on 14 January 

Page 17



8

2020, and the outcomes of appeal decisions issued over the past two years can 
be summarised below.  We are consistently more successful at defending our 
decisions at appeal than the national average, though the national trend in recent 
years has been for greater proportions of appeals to be dismissed than has 
historically been the case.

Total 
decisions

Dismissed Allowed Split 
decision

Other
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Oct 18 - Mar 19
Apr 19 - Sep 19
Oct 19 - Mar 20
Apr 20 - Sep 20

Figure 10:  Appeals decisions issued in the period by outcome

2.13 As stated elsewhere in this report, it is possible for an Inspector, when 
determining an application, to award costs for or against the authority, whether 
sought or not.  In the six-month period to which this report relates, no such cost 
awards were made.

Whilst avoiding cost awards cannot be guaranteed, it should be noted that, with a 
full staffing complement, failure to determine applications in time or submit 
material to the Inspectorate is far less likely, and decisions are carefully reviewed 
and lessons shared amongst the team in an effort to avoid repetition when it does 
occur.

2.14 Officers are also responsible for determining applications to undertake works to 
trees that are either the subject of Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) or are located 
within a Conservation Area, and details of such applications are shown below.

Page 18



Oct 18 - Mar 
19

Apr 19 - Sep 
19

Oct 19 - Mar 
20

Apr 20 - Sep 
20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Received
Determined
On hand at end of period

Figure 11:  Applications for works to trees subject of a TPO or within a Conservation Area

2.15 Planning Enforcement

In the period 1 April 2020 to 30 September 2020 the Council registered 127 new 
cases about alleged breaches of planning control.  These are referred to as 
‘complaints’.  This compares with 97 complaints registered in the preceding six-
month period, being a 31% increase.

2.16 Complaints are prioritised, as follows:
Priority 1 – Unauthorised development that threatens immediate and irreparable 
harm (Immediate Investigation)
Priority 2 – Unauthorised development which threatens limited harm (Investigation 
in 5 working days)
Priority 3 - Breaches of planning control that threaten less or no harm 
(Investigation in 10 working days)

Although this is the Council’s published policy, all Priority 2 and 3 reports are 
investigated within 5 working days.

2.17 The enforcement module of the Council’s Uniform computer package has only 
been brought online relatively recently, which limits our ability to provide 
comparable data over time.  However, Officers are identifying information that is 
likely to be of interest to Members, and looking to adjust the recording system to 
enable the necessary reports to be generated.  

2.18 To provide a snapshot of the enforcement service, the following information has 
been prepared to cover the full year, 2019/20, and the nine months to September 
2020, as this provides details on the outcomes of those cases closed within the 
periods.

2.19 Two hundred and eighty-four (284) enforcement cases were closed in the twelve-
month period 2019, the outcomes of which can be summarised as follows:

Page 19



Jan-Dec 2019 Jan-Sep 2020
2.20 Outcome

No. % No. %
No breach identified 106 37.3 56 31.3

Remediated 146 51.4 109 60.9

Immune from 
enforcement 3 1.1 3 1.7

Not expedient to 
pursue 29 10.2 11 6.1

The very low number of cases closed as ‘immune’ from enforcement action 
demonstrates that potential breaches of planning control are being identified 
promptly (by Members, officers or the public) and investigated promptly following 
report / identification.

In addition, the high number of cases with a successful outcome as a result of 
retrospective permission being granted or the breach remedied, as opposed to 
formal enforcement action being necessary, is a testament to the negotiating skills 
of the team.

2.21 Of those remediated in 2020 (109), 60.9% were as a result of planning permission 
being granted, breaches identified being resolved, compliance with an 
enforcement notice and compliance with conditions imposed on a planning 
approval or a condition(s) being discharged.

A further 3 cases (1.7%) gained Lawful Development Certificates.

It should be noted that most of these would have been fee generating.

2.22 In regard to notices issued / court action taken, this data is reported to and 
published by central government.  In the year ending June 2020 (the most recent 
national data available), Gravesham Council issued or secured:

 One Enforcement Notice

 One Temporary Stop Notice

 Three Enforcement Injunctions (100% success rate)

These figures are taken from Table P130 of the live tables on planning application 
statistics, and other detailed, national planning permission (enabling comparison 
with other authorities) is also available here.

2.23 Planning Policy

The Council is currently undertaking a Partial Review of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy which will include additional site allocations, together with proposing 
detailed Development Management Policies. A consultation was undertaken in 
April – June 2018, which sought views on 

 Site Allocations Issues and Options Document which set out broad options for 
meeting the Borough’s additional development needs up to 2028, and 

 Draft Development Management Policies Document set out detailed policies 
to be used when considering planning applications

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics


11

2.24 Taking account of the comments received, we have gathered additional 
information to inform the amount of development needed in the Borough to meet 
our development needs up to 2036 and where this development could take place.  
The draft policies in the Development Management Policies Document have also 
been updated and account has been taken of the changes in national policy since 
the 2018 consultation.

Whilst commencing after the current six-month monitoring period under 
consideration, it is worthy of note that we are currently undertaking a Regulation 
18 Stage 2 consultation which, due to the current pandemic and Government 
guidance, is being undertaken predominantly online.

A number of factors have and will affect the timetable for the emerging Local Plan, 
these include the current pandemic and potential changes to the planning system 
by the Government, whilst a timetable is provided below, it is indicative at this 
stage:

2.25 Alongside work on the emerging Local Plan, work has been progressed in a 
number of other areas e.g. Supplementary Planning Documents. Supplementary 
Planning Documents provide further detailed guidance on policies within the 
Borough’s adopted Development Plan. A consultation was undertaken in respect 
of the draft guidance in respect of the maintenance / replacement of windows and 
doors in Conservation Areas from 31 January to 13 March 2020, with the 
Supplementary Planning Document being adopted on 29 June 2020.

2.26 A consultation was also undertaken on the draft Residential Extensions and 
Alterations Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document between 31 
August and 29 September 2020. The final version of this Supplementary Planning 
Document will be reported in due course to Cabinet for adoption.

3. Major Infrastructure Projects / NSIPS 

3.1 Whilst this area of the directorate’s work has not previously been covered, there 
has been a great deal of activity in the six month period.  The key areas of focus 
have been the Lower Thames Crossing and London Resort proposals, although 
resource has also been put to dealing with, or at lease tracking, the following other 
projects:

 Tilbury 2

 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant

 Riverside Energy Park

 A2 Junctions (Bean and Ebbsfleet)

 Medway Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) Project

 Allington Energy and Waste Facility

Consulta-
tion 
Stage 1

Consulta
-tion
Stage 2

Consulta
-tion
Stage 3

Submissi
-on

Examinat
-ion Adoption

April – June 
2018

Oct-Dec
2020

Around July
2021

Around Oct 
2021

Subject to 
PINS

Subject to 
PINS

Page 21



12

3.2 Key areas of activity in the six-month period have been:

 The Supplementary Consultation for Lower Thames Crossing was extended 
by one week until 2 April 2020, with the Design Refinement Consultation 
taking place in July 2020, giving stakeholders, including the Council, just four 
weeks to respond.  Full responses were submitted on behalf of the Council.

 In June, the Council was consulted on London Resort Environmental Scoping 
report and, in July, the Council provided its comments on London Resort’s 
draft Statement of Community Consultation. Also in July, the Planning 
Inspectorate consulted the Council on London Resort’s request for a scoping 
opinion under the Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017.  The Council responded to the further round of statutory 
consultation which was carried out between 27 July and 21 September 2020.

 In June, the Council was consulted by the Planning Inspectorate on the 
adequacy of consultation for Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant and a 
response provided.

4. Staffing

4.1 Whilst The last two years has seen the need to use agency staff and other 
‘consultants’ within the Development Management team due to difficulties in 
attracting permanent staff generally within the planning profession, the last six 
months has seen the appointment of new officers with both entry-level and more 
advanced experience, enabling us to become fully staffed once again.  A number 
of these officers are part-time but this provides a degree of flexibility within the 
service.  Below is a graph showing staffing changes (people as opposed to FTEs) 
over the past two years.

4.2 The Policy team has had a stable staffing structure in recent years, with just one 
post currently remaining vacant.  An additional part-time team member has been 
employed on a short, fixed-term contract to provide some specific support.

5. What significant issues, improvements  and changes have occurred to date and 
what is planned 

5.1 In the previous report, with a particular focus on the Development Management 
service, changes were set out, which have led to an improved service offered to 
applicants, agents and the public generally.  This journey has continued during the 
recent six-month period, and include:

 Ensuring a fully resourced and skilled workforce;

 Further investment in IT, which has enabled a near ‘business as usual’ 
service to be maintained during the Covid-19 pandemic;

 Work towards a planned Agents’ Forum, with an initial questionnaire prepared 
and a registration process created. This is being progressed in order that an 
inaugural meeting can be held at the earliest opportunity.

 The finalised Maintenance / Replacement of Windows and Doors Guidance in 
Conservation Areas has been adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document.

 During the period, the Council consulted on its Draft Householder Extensions / 
Alterations Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), and 
Local Green Space whereby local stakeholders were asked to nominate sites 
for the Council to consider in its emerging plan and to comment on the criteria 

Page 22



13

that will be used to assess these nominations.  Both consultations ended on 
Tuesday 29 September 2020

5.2 For a long time the Council has been seeking to push forward what were regarded 
as ‘stalled’ sites, with a focus on those larger sites where extant permissions exist 
or have previously been granted but have expired.  Work has progressed well with 
resolutions being made to grant planning permission (subject to conditions and 
Section 106 Agreements) in June in respect of The Charter, M Block and Clifton 
Slipways, with work progressing in respect of land in the Canal Basin area and 
Lord Street.

5.3 The former police station site in Windmill Street has recently been sold on and 
details of the new owner’s intentions are awaited.  However, given ongoing 
concerns regarding lack of progress, authority has been obtained from Cabinet, in 
principle, to pursue Compulsory Purchase Order action should the requirement 
arise.

5.4 There has been a range of changes to planning legislation (summarised at 
Appendix 3), a key change being a significant reform of the Use Classes Order, 
with the Regulations taking effect in England on 1 September, creating:

 Class E (Commercial, Business and Service)

 Class F.1 (Learning and Non-residential institutions) and

 Class F.2 (Local community)

The Order also defined certain uses which cannot be included in a specified class 
(Sui Generis) and a presentation on these changes was given at Strategic 
Environment Cabinet Committee on 28 September.

5.5 In addition to the above, with the assistance of the corporate improvement team, 
officers are responding to the recommendations proposed during the Peer Review 
in accordance with the actions agreed with Members.  This work will be reported 
in due course.

6. Recommendations

6.1 This report is primarily submitted to assist the committee in monitoring Planning 
activity.  However, Members are requested to:
a) Discuss and comment upon the information provided; and
b) Identify other areas of performance they wish to see included in future 

reports.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 23



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Legal The Council’s development management and planning policy functions are 

statutory services, with all work in these fields being undertaken in line with 
legislative requirements.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The work relating to development management and enforcement is fully funded and 
the Council has established a Local Plan reserve to fund its work in that regard.

Risk Assessment The processing of planning applications is closely monitored to ensure the Council 
does not fail to deliver against the government’s speed and quality of decisions 
monitoring framework.
Progress with the Local Plan is being closely monitored to ensure that any slippage 
can be addressed in order to deliver within the timetable set out within the recently 
published Local Development Scheme.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

Page 24

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


15

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder issues pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

The Council’s various digital platforms will be used to promote consultation and 
make material available to the public.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding issues pertaining to this report.

Page 25



Appendix 2

Background to performance monitoring within the planning service

As advised in previous reports, performance relating to the processing of planning 
applications is collected at Gravesham as previously required under the old National 
Indicator 157, and figures in this format are still reported to government on a quarterly basis.  
The NI157-based targets are:
Major developments: to determine 60% of applications within 13 weeks.
Minor Developments: to determine 70% of applications within 8 weeks.
Other Developments: to determine 70% of applications within 8 weeks.

However, it should be noted that not all applications determined by this authority are 
monitored through the Council’s PS2 returns to government (upon which national 
comparisons are based), exceptions including approval / removal of conditions, 
consultations by neighbouring authorities, non-material and minor-material amendment 
applications, request for a scoping opinion under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, confirmation that conditions have 
been complied with, prior approval applications, etc.

Furthermore, there are occasions when, for perfectly acceptable reasons, e.g. an applicant 
being required to submit further necessary information or scheme amendments to make the 
proposal acceptable, when extensions of time (EOT) are negotiated with an applicant / 
agent.  In those instances, provided the decision is made within the extended period agreed, 
the decision is considered to have been made within the target period.

Whilst these figures remain helpful for the purposes of management performance 
monitoring, perhaps of greater importance are those figures collected that identify ‘failing’ 
authorities where government will consider taking action.

“Improving planning performance Criteria for designation”, which was last revised in 2018 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/760040/Improving_planning_performance.pdf, sets out the criteria which the 
government intends to use to designate local planning authorities if their performance in 
handling planning applications falls below a satisfactory level, under the powers contained in 
section 62B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Section 1 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 inserted sections 62A and 62B into the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“the 1990 Act”). Section 62A allows certain 
applications to be made directly to the Secretary of State, where the local planning authority 
for the area has been designated for this purpose. Section 62B requires that the criteria for 
any such designation, or for revoking a designation, must be set out in a document 
published by the Secretary of State and laid before Parliament.

These statistics are monitored on a cumulative basis over a two-year period, although 
officers monitor the trajectory on a quarterly basis to ensure unanticipated problems do not 
arise.  The government refers to this as the ‘speed of decision’ test.

The most recent monitoring covers the period from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2019, 
so we are able to report on the outcome of the full monitoring period.

When a planning application is refused, the applicant has the right to appeal.  The timescale 
for lodging an appeal varies depending on whether the application relates to a householder 
matter, non-householder matter or whether the proposal has also been the subject of an 
Enforcement Notice.

Page 26

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/760040/Improving_planning_performance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/760040/Improving_planning_performance.pdf


17

Appeals can also be lodged against conditions imposed on a planning approval and against 
the non-determination of an application that has passed the statutory time period for 
determination.

Where the Council has taken enforcement action through the serving of an Enforcement 
Notice then an appeal can be lodged in relation to that.  An appeal cannot be lodged though 
in relation to a breach of condition notice on the basis primarily that if the individual did not 
like the condition then they could have appealed against that at the time it was originally 
imposed.

The appeals are determined by Inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State and 
administered by the Planning Inspectorate, which informs the Council of the Inspector’s 
decision.

An appeal may be determined after a Public Inquiry, a Hearing or written representations.  It 
is possible for cost applications to be made either by the appellants against the Council or 
vice versa if it is alleged that either has acted in an unreasonable way.  Powers have now 
been introduced for Inspectors to award costs if they feel either party has acted 
unreasonably, irrespective of whether either party has made an application for costs.

It is possible for decisions made by Inspectors on appeal to be challenged through the 
Courts, but only if it is considered that an Inspector has erred in law, for instance by not 
considering a relevant issue or not following the correct procedure.  A decision cannot be 
challenged just because an Authority or appellant does not agree with it.  A successful 
challenge would result in an Inspector having to make the decision again in the correct 
fashion, e.g. by taking into account the relevant factor or following the correct procedure.  
This may lead ultimately to the same decision being made.

It is possible for Planning Inspectors to make a ‘split’ decision, where they allow one part of 
an appeal but not another.  This is not possible for the Council when it makes its original 
decision on the planning application other than for advertisement applications.

The government also monitors a number of appeal decisions on a similar basis to that for 
‘speed of decision’ mentioned above, under the banner of the ‘quality of decision’ test.  
Whilst officers monitor all appeal decisions and seek to learn from those where the Council’s 
decision has been overturned, it is the quality of decision monitoring that is considered 
particularly relevant.

The period for which this cumulative performance is gathered is different to that for the 
speed of decision, and the most recent monitoring covered the period from 1 April 2018 to 
31 March 2020, so we are able to report on the outcome of that full monitoring period.  We 
are also able to report on progress with the firsth three-quarters of the 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2021 monitoring period

The authority also provides a pre-application advice service and determines applications 
relating to works to trees (Tree Preservation Order and Conservation Area-related).  
Statistics for the past six months are provided in respect of these functions also.

The Council has a duty to investigate complaints about development, including building and 
engineering works and changes of use that may have been carried out without permission or 
consent, and breaches of conditions imposed on planning applications.  This work is 
undertaken by the planning enforcement team.

In the vast majority of cases planning permission is required before a new use begins or 
activities are carried out.  However, some minor works or changes of use do not require 
permission, but this should be clarified beforehand to avoid any confusion.  Where this 

Page 27



18

control is breached, the enforcement team will investigate the matter.  It is important, 
however, to realise that enforcement action is taken at the discretion of the Council.

Planning enforcement is a very complex area.  The legal processes involved are often 
lengthy and complicated and an ‘instant response’ or resolution cannot be guaranteed.  
Furthermore, in dealing with breaches there is a need to strike a balance between protecting 
the environment, protecting the amenities of neighbours and conserving historic building and 
areas, whilst at the same time enabling the freedom of the owners to use or alter their 
property as they wish, even though it may initially have been unauthorised.

A Development Plan (or Local Plan) sets out the planning policies that guide development in 
the borough.  By law, we must determine planning applications in accordance with our Local 
Plan, while also taking into account any other material considerations.

The Local Plan for Gravesham currently consists of:

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map (adopted December 2014);

 Gravesham Local Plan First Review – Saved Policies; and

 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (adopted July 2016).

Officers are currently progressing a number of work streams, including preparation of a 
Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and a Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies document.  The Development Management Policies, when adopted, 
will replace the remaining saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review.

Page 28



Appendix 3

Summary of recent legislative changes that have been laid / brought into force and that relate to Town and Country Planning matters in 
England 

Title Brief summary Status Date due / came 
into force

Business and Planning Bill 2019-21 The Bill responds to the Covid-19 emergency and brings forward temporary 
changes to the planning system to support economic recovery.  There is 
guidance available to support the Bill.

In force 22/07/2020

The Town and Country Planning 
(Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site 
Visits) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 

The Government is introducing a new permitted development right to allow 
purpose built detached blocks of flats, of 3 storeys or more, to be extended 
upwards to create new homes. These regulations prescribe the fees to be 
payable to local planning authorities for applications for prior approval for 
these new permitted development rights. 

Draft – not made Twenty eighth day 
after the day on 
which they are 
made

The Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2020 

These Regulations amend the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987) as it applies to England. The changes made by these 
Regulations create new use classes in relation to England contained in the 
new Schedule 2 to the amended Order namely, Class E (Commercial, 
Business and Service), Class F.1 (Learning and Non-residential institutions) 
and Class F.2 (Local community). It also moves certain uses which were in 
the Schedule to the Use Classes Order into regulation 3(6) (namely, uses 
which cannot be included in a specified class). 

In force 01/09/2020 

The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
(England) (Amendment) (No. 3) 
Order 2020

Introduces a new permanent permitted development right to allow for the 
demolition of certain types of buildings and replacement build as residential 
to create new homes, while allowing for local consideration of key planning 
matters. 
Will apply to vacant and redundant free-standing buildings that fell within 
the B1(a) offices, B1 (b) research and development, B1 (c) industrial 
processes (light industrial), and free-standing purpose-built residential 
blocks of flats (C3) use classes on 12 March 2020, the date of Planning for 
the future. 

In force 31/08/2020 

P
age 29



Title Brief summary Status Date due / came 
into force

To provide that the right applies to buildings that are vacant and redundant 
and are no longer suitable for modern use the right will apply to those built 
before 1 January 1990. 
The right provides for the new residential building to be up to 7 metres 
higher than the old to accommodate up to two additional storeys to provide 
additional homes, within a final overall maximum height of 18 metres. 
The right allows for local consideration of specific planning matters through 
prior approval.

The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
(England) (Amendment) (No. 2) 
Order 2020 

This Order amends the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order to introduce a permanent permitted 
development right to allow existing houses to be extended to provide more 
living space by constructing additional storeys. 
Introduces permanent permitted development rights to allow the 
construction of additional storeys on free standing blocks and on buildings 
in a terrace that are houses or in certain commercial uses, and in mixed 
uses with an element of housing, to create additional self- contained 
homes. 
The right applies to houses built since 1 July 1948 and 28 October 2018. 
The right is subject to obtaining prior approval from the local planning 
authority 

In force 31/08/2020 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Spatial Development Strategy) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 

Amends the Town and Country Planning (London Spatial Development 
Strategy) Regulations 2000 and the Combined Authorities (Spatial 
Development Strategy) Regulations 2018 to remove, on a temporary basis, 
the requirements on the Mayor of London and combined authorities with 
spatial development strategy making powers to make certain documents 
available for physical inspection and to provide hard copies on request. The 
temporary modifications will only apply until 31 December 2020. The 
documents will, instead, need to be made available on the relevant 
authority’s website. 

In force 12/08/2020 

P
age 30



Title Brief summary Status Date due / came 
into force

The Infrastructure Planning 
(Publication and Notification of 
Applications etc.) (Coronavirus) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2020 

The Infrastructure Planning (Publication and Notification of Applications 
etc.) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 amend, on a temporary 
basis, certain requirements placed on applicants (and the Secretary of 
State, where appropriate) to make certain documents available at places, 
including in the vicinity of a proposed project for inspection. The 
amendments provide for the guidance. The amendments will apply until 
31st December 2020. 

In force 22/07/2020 

The Community Infrastructure Levy 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2020 

New regulations make provision to enable a CIL collecting authority (in 
certain circumstances and if it is considered appropriate), to defer CIL 
payments, to credit late payment interest accrued, and to disapply, for a 
limited time, late payment interest and surcharges for late payment. These 
provisions are a time limited response to the economic impact of 
coronavirus and will only apply in respect of small/medium sized 
developers. 

In force 22/07/2020 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 

Amends the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 to remove, on a temporary basis, the requirements on 
local planning authorities to make certain documents available for 
inspection at premises and to provide hard copies on request. The 
temporary modifications will only apply until 31 December 2020. The 
documents will still need to be made available on the local planning 
authority’s website. 

In force 16/07/2020 & 
12/08/2020 

The Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 

Amend the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 on a temporary basis until 31 December 2020. Modifies 
requirements placed on responsible authorities and the Secretary of State 
for documents relating to strategic environmental assessment (“SEA”) to be 
available for physical inspection by members of the public at an address, 
for consultees to be informed of that address and for a copy of those 
documents to be available to be obtained from that address. This 
instrument will temporarily replace this with a duty to make the documents 
available for online inspection, and for consultees to be informed of the 
website address where this can be inspected. 

In force 16/07/2020 

P
age 31



Title Brief summary Status Date due / came 
into force

Ministerial Statement
Planning update: Written statement - 
HLWS311 

Sets out supporting temporary measures to the Business and Planning Bill 
that the Government proposes to ensure the planning system continues to 
operate effectively (some are now reflected in the legislative provisions 
above and below). 

In force 25/06/2020 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Permitted Development and 
Miscellaneous Amendments) 
(England) (Coronavirus) Regulations 
2020 

Amend the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 to allow development to assist in supporting the 
Government’s economic renewal package following the coronavirus 
outbreak. They provide an additional allowance for the temporary use of 
land from 1st July 2020 to 31 December 2020. They also introduce a new 
permitted development right to allow a local authority to hold a market for 
an unlimited number of days without the requirement to submit an 
application for planning permission. 
Introduce a permanent permitted development right to allow additional 
storeys to be constructed on existing purpose-built blocks of flats to create 
new homes. 
Amend existing permitted development rights to ensure that new homes 
developed through permitted development rights provide adequate natural 
light for the occupants. 
Amend to limit the compensation liability where a local planning authority 
withdraws the new permitted development right to extend upwards existing 
purpose-built blocks of flats to create additional homes by making a 
direction under article 4 of the General Permitted Development Order. 

In force 25/06/2020 and 
01/08/2020 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure, Listed Buildings and 
Environmental Impact Assessment) 
(England) (Coronavirus) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2020 

Amend, on a temporary basis, certain requirements placed on local 
planning authorities and applicants for development requiring an 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) for publicity and inspection of 
documents where the authority or applicant (as the case may be) is not 
able to comply with a particular requirement because it is not reasonably 
practicable to do so for reasons connected to the effects of COVID-19, 
including restrictions on movement. 
In order for local planning authorities to continue to make sound decisions 
on planning applications during the response to coronavirus, this instrument 
gives them more flexibility to meet their publicity requirements. 

In force 14/05/2020 

P
age 32



Title Brief summary Status Date due / came 
into force

The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
(Coronavirus) (England) 
(Amendment) Order 2020 

Amends the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (“the General Permitted Development Order”) to 
introduce a new permitted development right to allow local authorities and 
health service bodies to carry out development, both works and change of 
use, of facilities required in undertaking their roles to respond to the spread 
of coronavirus, without a requirement to submit a planning application. 

In force 09/04/2020 

Source:  https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Recent%20planning%20related%20legislative%20changes%20July%202020.pdf
 

Updated guidance notes

Permitted development rights for householders: technical guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-for-householders-technical-guidance

Fast-track planning for brownfield regeneration: key facts brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-track-planning-for-
brownfield-regeneration-key-facts-brief 
(this is ‘demolition of buildings and construction of new dwelling houses in their place’)

Fast-tracked approval for building upwards: key facts brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-tracked-approval-for-
building-upwards-key-facts-brief

Flexible use on the high street: key facts brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/flexible-use-on-the-high-street-
key-facts-brief
 
Permitted development rights – new homes to meet space standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/permitted-development-homes-to-meet-space-standards

P
age 33

https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Recent%20planning%20related%20legislative%20changes%20July%202020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-for-householders-technical-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-track-planning-for-brownfield-regeneration-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-track-planning-for-brownfield-regeneration-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-tracked-approval-for-building-upwards-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/fast-tracked-approval-for-building-upwards-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/flexible-use-on-the-high-street-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-and-changes-to-the-use-classes-order/flexible-use-on-the-high-street-key-facts-brief
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/permitted-development-homes-to-meet-space-standards


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee

Date: 30 November 2020

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Response to Rising Unemployment.

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report the steps that the Council is taking to respond to the growing unemployment 
position in the Borough through working effectively with its partners and as a major employer 
by expanding opportunties into work for young people.

Recommendations:
1. Members of the Committee are invited to consider the actions outlined in this report 

with a view to assisting the Cabinet in the shaping of the Council's response to the 
changing local unemployment situation.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 COVID-19 is having a considerable economic impact on businesses, employment 
and job opportunities for young people, especially as they leave full time 
education and enter into work or are looking for work experience relevant to their 
chosen career paths.

1.2 The impacts locally in Gravesham are only just beginning to be revealed and it is 
anticipated that the unemployment situation may yet get worse, before it 
improves.  A co-ordinated response is needed to ensure that local people have 
access to the available jobs and are signposted to skills training and work 
experience opportunities, if appropriate.  The Council is working with a range of 
agencies, including Department of Work & Pensions (DWP), North Kent College 
and others and steps are being taken to strengthen partnership working in the 
months to come.

1.3 Ensuring that the local workforce is equipped with the skills to access work 
opportunities is a key theme identified in the draft economic growth strategy and 
has risen in prominence and urgency within the context of the pandemic.

1.4 With responsibilities extending to the economic welfare of its residents and 
businesses and as one of the largest employers in the Borough, the Council is 
uniquely placed to support collaboration amongst agencies and has a duty to 
consider work opportunities for young people.

Page 35 Agenda Item 6



2

1.5 This report outlines a number of initiatives that are being explored, including the 
Kickstart scheme, and it is timely to seek the Committee’s views on the 
development of these.

2. UNEMPLOYMENT IN GRAVESHAM

2.1 4,835 people (16-64 year olds, October 2020, ONS) are currently claiming 
unemployment benefits - Jobseekers Allowance or Universal Credit - in the 
Borough.  This is an increase of 128% over the year and represents an 
unemployment rate of 7.4%, higher than both Kent (6%) and UK (6.3%) averages.

2.2 Of particular concern is the number of young people (18-24 year olds) claiming 
benefits.  965 young people in the Borough are unemployed.  Again the rate, 
12.7% is higher than Kent (9.9%) and UK (9.2%) averages.

2.3 This is against a backdrop whereby the numbers of unemployed may continue to 
increase.   The Government has extended the Job Retention Scheme until March 
2021, deferring redundancies for the time being, and there will be further cohorts 
of young people leaving school, college and university next year.

2.4 Some sectors have been particularly hard hit by the pandemic, notably within the 
hospitality, leisure and retail sectors where young people have traditionally found 
it easier to access work.  Business retraction is likely to reduce apprenticeship 
opportunities and the capacity of employers to mentor and support placements is 
more challenging at a time when physical restrictions apply in the workplace.

2.5 Competition for jobs is fierce.  Vacancies have declined by 34% nationally, with 
decline across all industrial sectors, except for within utilities and construction.  
Again, the largest decline has been seen in retail, hospitality and leisure sectors 
(>-50%) and the number of vacancies per 100 jobs nationally has declined from 
2.6 to 1.7 over the year.

3. KICKSTART SCHEME

3.1 As part of the Government’s ‘Plan for Jobs’ announced in July, it established the 
Kickstart Scheme – a £2 billion fund to create high quality 6-month work 
placements for young people (16-24 year olds).  Guidance on the Kickstart 
scheme can be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-
scheme.

3.2 Funding for each Kickstart job placement will cover the National Minimum Wage 
for 25 hours a week, plus associated National Insurance contributions and 
employer automatic minimum enrolment contributions.  There are options for 
employers to pay a higher wage and/or for more hours, but the funding available 
will not cover this.  They will need to be topped up by the employer.

3.3 For each job placement, employers will receive a payment of £1500 to cover 
setup costs and to support the young person in developing their employability 
skills, including CV and interview preparation, training, such as team work and 
communications to help them move into sustained employment after they have 
completed the placement.

3.4 Grant funding to cover the young person’s salary will be paid to employers in 
arrears, once DWP know that the young person has been enrolled onto the payroll 
and are being paid.  Payments will be made to employers at month 4 for the first 3 
months and then at month 7 for the last 3 months.

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme


3

3.5 Employers will submit Kickstart job placements to local job centres and young 
people who have been claiming Universal Credit for at least 6 months, and 
therefore are at risk of long term unemployment, can apply or be referred to a 
placement by their Work Coach.  Employers will be able to interview potential 
applicants and select the best candidate to fulfil that role.

3.6 Kickstart placements must be new jobs and not replace existing or planned 
vacancies.  Placements will last for 6 months and can then be filled by another 
candidate.  

Kickstart Placements within the Council

3.7 Council officers have been tasked with identifying where there is capacity to 
provide work placements within their service areas and to date in excess of 30 
positions have been identified, with the potential to create a variety of 
opportunities where they might bring and acquire different skills.

3.8 The next step is to turn these into valid job descriptions and to apply to the 
Kickstart scheme.   It is likely that January 2021 will be the earliest start date for 
any placements.  That fits well with the scheme, where the Government’s current 
commitment to fund this scheme runs until the end of December 2021.

Council as Kickstart Gateway

3.9 Employers are required to have a minimum of 30 job placements to apply to the 
Kickstart Scheme.  If they are unable to provide that many vacancies, they will 
need to partner with another intermediary organisation, known as a Gateway.  

3.10 The Council has expressed an interest in acting as a Gateway to partner with 
other local businesses.  This is a positive role, especially if that leads to more 
Kickstart job placements forthcoming locally.  It will also enable the Council to 
collaborate with businesses to source training and to encourage the sharing of 
good practice, especially on matters such as mentoring.

3.11 Each Gateway will receive £300 per placement within the partnership to cover 
administration costs, such as promoting the scheme to businesses, undertaking 
initial checks on those businesses, uploading job placement applications, and 
administering the payments to businesses.

3.12 The Senior Economic Development Officer has sought expressions of interest 
from local employers and that has identified an additional 30 plus placements.  
This is likely to expand as the scheme is promoted further to businesses.  An 
online application form has been designed to enable local businesses to apply as 
soon as the Council has applied to act as a Gateway.

Additional Potential

3.13 Nationally, a number of different models of delivery of Kickstart placements are 
being explored, e.g. employing teams of young people to take forward creative 
projects or digital transformation activity.  These will expand the number of 
placements.  

3.14 Larger organisations and agencies are also seeking to persuade their contractors 
to put in place Kickstart placements and the Council could also explore a similar 
route with its contractors.

Page 37



4

3.15 Kickstart has the potential to form part of a wider offer for young people that the 
Council can help to shape locally, in conjunction with the business community and 
other partners.  However, it needs to be noted that not all young unemployed 
people will be eligible, as they are required to be registered as income support 
claimants or unemployed for 6 months or longer.  

4. COMPLEMENTARY ACTIONS & INITIATIVES

Kickstart Training

4.1 North Kent College is putting in place a ‘wrap around’ training scheme to support 
Kickstart placements locally and across Kent in partnership with other Colleges 
and the Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce, focusing on employability. This will 
be delivered online throughout the placement, in conjunction with a self-
assessment survey at the beginning and end of each Kickstart placement.

Youth Hubs

4.2 One of the prospective initiatives that is being explored as part of the Kent 
Employment Taskforce, is a series of Youth Hubs across the County.  Supported 
by a range of partners these will aim to draw together support at a local level and 
could be virtual or co-hosted with existing provision for young people within 
physical locations. 

DWP Flexible Support Fund

4.3 DWP has made it known that additional resources are available from their Flexible 
Support Fund to help enhance youth employment services locally and officers are 
in discussion with other parties who may bid to provide services for the benefit of 
Gravesham residents. 

Digital Development Teams & COVID-19 Recovery Fund 

4.4 The South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) has announced a £2 million 
Skills COVID-19 Recovery Fund - an employer-led programme to trial new ways 
of skilling/re-skilling people of all ages. North Kent College are considering a 
partnership bid to this Fund, which the Council can support.  The Fund is likely to 
support digital skills, industry growth sectors and innovative delivery.  

4.5 SELEP’s Digital Skills Partnership (DSP) has identified 3 pilots to create a ‘hands 
on’ Digital Development Team in Local Authority areas. The Teams would 
comprise individuals who are enthusiastic and knowledgeable about digital skills, 
to act as practical advisors to small businesses, to “hand-hold” getting people 
trading and earning online. The pilot projects depend upon ‘virtual teams’ drawn 
from across the public and private sectors, to provide a face-to-face consultation 
with a diagnostic tool and then signposting to relevant training or further help.  

4.6 Prior to the advent of new national restrictions which have since impacted delivery 
priorities, the Council’s economic development team lobbied SELEP’s DSP and 
consequently has been invited to become a 4th pilot area for a Digital 
Development Team. The pilots do not attract funding, but are intended to provide 
a ‘proof of concept’ which will then improve the likelihood of successful pilot areas 
being able to access specific SELEP digital skills funding streams.  Officers are 
exploring the full implications of this.

Page 38



5

Skills Academy / (Business) Sector-Specific Skills

4.7 North Kent College and other providers are scoping the potential to invest in new 
training courses, aligned with new and emerging demand for skills from local 
businesses in growth sectors of the economy. This includes a potential Skills 
Academy which might be tailored to professional and trade skills required for 
major North Kent infrastructure schemes, as well as an Institute of Technology bid 
to attract specialist tutors and enable investment in cutting edge equipment. 

4.8 A collaborative skills and economic development forum has been established in 
response to the Lower Thames Crossing proposals as a model for how local 
communities can maximise the jobs and supply chain opportunities associated 
with a series of major projects, committed or planned for North Kent.

Kent Employment Plan

4.9 As part of the emergency response to tackle significant increases in 
unemployment across Kent, the Kent Employment Taskforce has been set up by 
Kent County Council with representatives from the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP), Further Education providers, business and other local 
authorities. 

4.10 The group is developing a Kent Employment Plan which will seek to balance the 
considerable emergency response to unemployment which is being implemented 
by DWP through Job Centres and schemes like Kickstart, with other measures to 
support the skills required to equip residents for the jobs available within current 
and future growth sectors.  

4.11 Gravesham is the only Kent District to benefit from the presence of a Group 
Training Association (the Thames Skills Academy), for example, which is part of a 
national network of 40 public-private learning partnerships in key industrial areas, 
where member employers subscribe to off-the-job training centres to provide 
expert skills delivery. 

4.12 Group Training Associations (GTAs) have an established history of providing 
training pathways into vocational careers in response to skills gaps with local 
employers. In response to feedback from the economic development team, the 
draft Kent Employment Plan includes reference to examining how collaborative 
models of training delivery, including GTAs specifically, could be built upon in 
support of the County’s future economic development and the talent pool it needs 
to help local communities attract investment and well paid employment 
opportunities. 

5. POTENTIAL WORK OPPORTUNITIES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE WITHIN THE COUNCIL

5.1 The Council has a long tradition of providing apprenticeships, work experience 
and other opportunities for young people and is undertaking a review of how these 
are organised in support of widening opportunities for young people at a time 
when fewer placements are available in the wider economy.

Apprenticeships

5.2 The Council currently employs 19 apprentices across a range of services and 
there are 2 vacant posts.  The current review is looking at:

5.2.1 the distribution of apprenticeships across the organisation

Page 39



6

5.2.2 expanding the range and the variety of qualification levels, linked to 
careers and job progression within the Council

5.2.3 the frequency of commencement within the year – potentially two tranches

5.2.4 introducing an element of corporate project work to develop team working 
and presentation skills

5.2.5 prioritising placements for young people living in the Borough

5.2.6 enhancing supervision;

5.2.7 emphasising their role as training posts, as opposed to permanent posts;

5.2.8 adding greater flexibility with movement between posts within the Council, 
if required.

Work Experience

5.3 To date, work experience within the Council, has happened in a relatively ad-hoc 
manner, depending on how approaches have been received.  Placements have 
been diverse in respect of experience, duration and level of education. 

5.4 The Council’s Youth Democracy Scheme has also made a positive contribution to 
students in the preparation of CVs and UCAS applications.  9 young people took 
part in 2019/20, with the outcome of the scheme being reported to the Community 
& Leisure Cabinet Committee earlier this month.

5.5 Consideration is being given to advertising work experience placements for 
students resident in Gravesham at the beginning of each year so that they can be 
planned for more effectively.  These could comprise project focused placements, 
designed to give students a specific outcome as well as making a positive 
contribution to the work of the Council.  Placements may also need to be carried 
out remotely, given current Covid-19 restrictions.

Career Graded Posts

5.6 The Council has some experience of career graded posts and is exploring 
extending this commitment to identify a series of career graded posts for 18-25 
year old age group resident in Gravesham.  These would ideally suit applicants 
who have recently completed Level 3 or 4 qualifications and be linked to service 
areas where there have been difficulties recruiting into posts or where there has 
been a real growth in activity during the pandemic.

Further Considerations

5.7 Any additional Kickstart, apprenticeship or career graded posts will represent an 
expansion to the Council’s establishment, requiring consideration against the 
backdrop of an increasingly challenging financial position.   Cabinet/Council 
authority will be required.  Similarly, if additional staff resources are needed to 
give oversight and administrative support to an expansion of placements for 
young people.

5.8 If authority is given, such posts can make a positive contribution to the Council’s 
commitment to be a Social Mobility Pledge accredited employer as unanimously 

Page 40



7

agreed at Council on 17 December 2019.  The motion in respect of the Pledge 
reads as follows:

This Council supports the Social Mobility Pledge and resolves to request that 
Gravesham Borough Council becomes a Social Mobility Pledge accredited 
employer.

This Council further acknowledges that improving social mobility is a priority that 
requires a coordinated, multi-agency approach.

Consequently, this Council resolves that the Executive will adhere to the principles 
of the Social Mobility Pledge and work with Members and external partners to 
improve social mobility across the borough.

The Social Mobility Pledge: 

Partnership

We will partner with schools or colleges to provide coaching through quality 
careers advice, enrichment experience and / or mentoring to people from 
disadvantaged backgrounds or circumstances.

Access

We will provide structured work experience and / or apprenticeships opportunities 
to people from disadvantaged backgrounds or circumstances.

Recruitment

We will adopt open employee recruitment practices which promote a level playing 
field for people from disadvantaged backgrounds or circumstances.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 More information on the Kickstart scheme can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Given the potential for a large number of posts to be added to the Council's 
establishment - some funded from external sources, as with the Kickstart scheme, 
and others requiring additional budgetary provision in the case of any additional 
apprenticeships or career graded posts - then these need to be agreed by Full 
Council.
Kickstart requires a contract agreement to be in place with DWP if the Council 
applies for Kickstart job placements and acts as a Gateway.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Any additional Kickstart/apprenticeships/career graded posts will require additions 
to the Council’s employment establishment to be agreed by Cabinet/Full Council 
and considered against the backdrop of a challenging financial position.
The salary cost of Kickstart placements are fully recoverable if contracted to 25 
hours a week and there will be no cost to the Council.
Apprentices are currently budgeted for within the Council's budget for 2020/21.  
Any increase will need additional authorities as referred to above.
Additional Career Graded Posts will be an additional cost to the Council's Medium 
Term Financial Plan, with costs for professional studies where possible being 
recovered via the Apprenticeship Levy; if not, then these will also be a further cost 
to the MTFP.
Any additional staff resource to provide oversight and/or administrative support to 
expanding work opportunities for young people within the Council will require a 
further cost to the MTFP. 

Risk Assessment Placements will be risk assessed in the workplace.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 42

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


9

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes, equality requirements are incorporated in the design and fulfilment of work 
placements within the Council.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place - improve economic conditions
#3 Progress - 'an employer of choice'

Climate Change No direct implication at this stage.

Crime and Disorder No direcft implications at this stage.

Digital and website 
implications

Promotion of the Kickstart Scheme requires an online application form for 
businesses to submit their placements to the Council.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No implications at this stage.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee

Date: 30 November 2020

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane - Assistant Director (Planning) 
Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Strategic Environment Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Strategic Environment 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2020-21, covering the period July to September 
2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 46



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 47

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 48



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

S T R A T E G I C  E N V I R O N M E N T
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 49



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes delivered 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

21 24 53 14 45 71

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

64

14 affordable housing completions due this quarter at Springhead Park and Waterman’s Park have 

been delayed to Q3 due to Covid-19 related site delays.   

Construction is continuing at Cable Wharf (Northfleet Embankment East) where Town and Country 

Housing are expecting completion of 10 homes for shared ownership and three for affordable rent in 

Q3.  These homes will be the first affordable homes completed on this site where the total number of 

affordable homes delivered during the coming phases will total 224. 

Construction is also continuing on Gravesham development sites at Whitehill Road and St Patrick’s 

Gardens with demolition of the bedsits at Valley Drive expected early December following planned 

gas disconnections mid-November.

Planning permission was recently secured for the delivery of a wheelchair accessible and adaptable 

Council-owned bungalow on an underused garage court at Arnold Avenue in Meopham.  

Additional homes update - Shazad Ghani

Affordable Housing update  - Sharon Donald 

No update this quarter. 

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicatorAnnual indicator

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality 

market and affordable housing.

O U T T U R N 

0

30

60

90

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

50

100

150

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 50



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0% 11.2% 11.1%

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276 40,386 91,077

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Applications for:

• The Charter

• Clifton Slipways, and 

• the Former Gravesend & North Kent Hospital (M Block) 

were given a resolution to permit, subject to s106, at Planning Committee in July 2020.

Following the 'lock-down' as a consequence of the pandemic earlier in the year, Town Centre footfall 

fell dramatically.  With the gradual reopening of businesses during Q2, Town Centre footfall began to 

recover, reaching around 80% of the footfall for the similar period the year before.  Signage in the 

Town Centre and local centres has been updated in response to Government advice around physical 

distancing.

The vacancy rate in the Town Centre has remained at a same level to Q1, which is higher than the 

rate normally experienced in the Town.  It is anticipated that this rate may continue to increase in the 

months to come as the impacts of the pandemic on businesses become more apparent.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic 

regeneration schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 

#2 PLACE 

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 51



P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties    

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

£64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,420,185 £64,801,072 £64,759,342

P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

N/A 247 240 240 217 207

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and 

improve local land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Government notified all local authorities that all business support funds must be committed by the 

28th August.  As a result there was renewed activity in order to ensure that the maximum number of 

local businesses benefited from the financial assistance available.  A total of £14.6 million was 

distributed to 1,191 businesses (99% of identified businesses).  75 grant awards were paid out in the 

form of discretionary grants before the scheme end date, totalling expenditure of £674,000.

With the reopening of many businesses during this quarter, officers from across the Council were 

engaged in communicating and giving advice to businesses in respect of how to reopen safely, 

especially where updates in Government guidance were required, e.g. in respect of use of face 

coverings, etc. 

Opportunities to bring forward additional employment space in the Borough are focused on 6 no. new 

industrial, warehouse and trade counter units at Coldharbour Road, a range of business units at 

Northfleet Embankment East in conjunction with Ebbsfleet Development Corporation within the North 

Kent Enterprise Zone and new office development within St George’s Phase II.  Proposals for Clifton 

Slipways include start-up business units.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

£64,000,000

£64,500,000

£65,000,000

£65,500,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

100

200

300

400

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 52



P I  32 % net gain in new businesses  

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

2.4%

London Resort

In July, the Council provided its comments on London Resort’s draft Statement of Community 

Consultation. Also in July, the Planning Inspectorate consulted the Council on London Resort’s 

request for a scoping opinion under the Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017.  The Council responded to the further round of statutory consultation which was 

carried out between 27 July and 21 September 2020 and included a specific 'socio-economic' 

statement. 

Business investment proposals progressing through the planning system are being actively 

supported by brokering relevant expertise and promoting proposals to relevant stakeholders and the 

wider community. 

Through social media and the Gravesham Business Network, signpost to local and national sources 

of financial and other support for businesses, including sector-based (manufacturing, creative, digital, 

low carbon, food and drink) and cross-cutting support. Kent and Medway Growth Hub, Federation of 

Small Businesses and Enterprise Nation are three active portals for a range of business support.

Enterprise Zone - working through Thames Gateway Kent Partnership, input has been provided to 

the LEP Network to a review of Enterprise Zones, with a view to ensuring that they remain among the 

policy toolkit for stimulating local economic development. 

EU Transition

i) To help ensure business retention (and new investment prospects), a recent letter from the 

Department of Business, Environment and Industrial Strategy has been published on the GBC web 

site, citing 80 days till new measures take effect.

ii) A series of webinars targeted at business advisors and professional advisory firms has been 

circulated to 15 local organisations, by the economic development team.

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and 

encouraging new start-ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive economic 

growth. 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 53



P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5% 7.4% 7.6%

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.2% 5.5% 5.6% 5.8% 11.9% 13.0%

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of measures 

that support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern business. 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

A significant reform of the Use Classes Order was announced on 21 July 2020. New Use Class 

regulations took effect in England on 1 September, creating:

• Class E (Commercial, Business and Service), 

• Class F.1 (Learning and Non-residential institutions) and 

• Class F.2 (Local community)

The Order also defined certain uses which cannot be included in a specified class (Sui Generis)

A presentation on these changes was given at Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee on 28 

September.

In addition, a response to the Planning White Paper consultation has been made by Thames 

Gateway Kent Partnership, with support from the GBC economic development team. This proposes 

greater emphasis be placed on employment development, by MHCLG. 

Influencing work is being carried out, in relation to the work of the Kent Employment Taskforce, 

chaired by Kent County Council, which is a key strand of the Economic Renewal and Resilience 

Plan.

Two key local priorities have arisen from the above:

i) Youth employment: Kickstart training placements (16-24 year olds) and local Youth Hubs (virtual / 

physical) likely to be further rolled out to local areas by the Department of Work and Pensions. 

ii) Employer-led skills development - potential future innovation in how to create a local talent pool, 

leading to sustainable employment opportunities for local people and a skilled workforce. 

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

4%

8%

12%

16%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 54



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

75% 100% 100% 83% 100% 100%

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

61% 77% 77% 86% 95% 100%

O U T T U R N 

In Q2:

• Major applications – 100% (two applications decided, two in time)

• Minor and other applications – 100% (164 applications decided, 164 in time)

During this quarter, the Council consulted on

• Draft Householder Extensions /Alterations Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD), and 

• Local Green Space whereby local stakeholders were asked to nominate sites for the Council to 

consider in its emerging plan and to comment on the criteria that will be used to assess these 

nominations.

Both consultations ended on Tuesday 29 September 2020 

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development management 

service, underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic natural and built 

environment. 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Planning Performance
	6 Response to Raising Unemployment
	7 Q2 2020-21 Performance Report
	2. Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q2 2020-21 - Appendix 2




